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Please i d e n t i f y  a l l  grievances which arose out of ,  or 
relate to, 6ervice problems, subscriber refun&, and t he  
falsification of recards. 
i nc lud ing  the name8 and address  of attorneys. 

Please identify the parties, 

The Company does not rpaintain information of t h i s  t ype -  
s t h o r  than i n  individual  employee f i l e s .  southern Bel l ,  
t hc t e fa l r s  ob jec ts  t o  t h i s  i n t e r r o g a t o r y  oa the  b a s i s  t h a t  
it vould be unduly burdensome and oppressive to requi re  
Southern B e l l  to search the  f i l e s  of agpcoxfmately 19,500 
p r e s e n t  employees plns the files of former eaployees. In 
a d d i t i o n ,  personnel e n t r i e s  ate rccroved af ter  seven years 
i f  t h e r e  have been no subsequent e n t r i e s  r e l a t e d  t o  the  
same tna t te r .  

Sub jec t  to t h i s  object ion Southern B e l l  has searched those 
files which it ha6 in Lahor Relations offices and made an 
i n q u i r y  of each Network ope ra t ions  Manager i n  Flor ida 
having Naintenance Center r e s p c n s i b i l i t i e a  as to t h e i r  
knowledge of any nccurronces of f a l s i f i c a t i o n s  of repa i r  
s e r v i c e s  records. The folLowing Fn€ormation has been 
obta ined  from these sources. 
d e l e t e d  from a l l  copies except t h a t  given t o  Publ ic  
Counsel, and a notion f o r  a TaRDOr&rv P ro tec t ive  Order 

* .  

The employee's name has been 

~ ~ ~ _ _ _ ~  
regard ing  tile names is being f i i e a  contempqraneousiy w i t h  
t h i s  answer. . .  

- ea)' Nage Title Business Address 

1-2- Service Technician NO longer  w i t h  Company 

21 See 3G3A furn ished  i n  the Prod-Jction of Documenis.  

2-29 Se C V  i c5 T e c h n i c i a n  1824 N. 3 r d  S t c e e t  
Jacksonv i l l e  Reach, FL. 

See 3c3rL f u r n i s l l e t i  i i i  t.he Product.ion of oocuments. 
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Title Business Address 

3 3. Service Technician No longer with Company 

5 Grievance processed through arbitration step. .Company p o s i t i o n  
v s u s t a i n e d .  
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See gr ievance  form and a r b i t r a t i o n  award fu rn i shed  with POD. - 
Service Technician NO longer  with Company 

Grievance processed through a r b i t r a t i o n  step. 
s u s t a i n e d .  

Company p o s i t i o n  

See gr ievance  and a r b i t r a t i o n  award Eurnished wi th  POD. 

Service Technician 980 Pine Tree Dr. 
Indian  Earbor Bch., FL 

See gr ievance  form and spec ia l  se t t lement  r e i n s t a t i n g  employee 
furnished as a p a r t  of the POD. 

Service Technician 1602 N .  Cove Blvd. 
Panama Ci ty ,  FL 

Grievance prOCe6Sed through 3rd l eve l .  

See 3G3A fu rn i shed  i n  the Production oE Documents. 

F a c i l i t y  T e c h n i c i a n  2800 Cather ine St. 
Pala tka ,  FL 

Grievance s e t t l e d  a t  informal l eve l .  Warning e n t r y  changed t o  
counse l ing  . 

Service Technician 

See 3 G 3 A  furn ished  ac a par t  of t h e  POD. 

NO longer with Company 

Secvicc T c c h n i c i a n  No longer with Company 

See  3 G 3 h  f l l r n i s h c d  21% a par t .  of the POD. 
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In the Matter of the Arbitration Between 1 
) 

1 
AND 1 

1 
COMMUNICATIONS WORKERS OF AMERICA ) 

SOUTHERN BELL TELEPHONE AND TELEGRAPH COMPANY ) 

OPINION AND AWARD 

Grievance: 

nearing: 

Representing: 

The Company: 

The Union: 

Arbitrator:. 

Date of Decision: 

NO. 588037-3101 
Richard Scuoteguazzo 
Ternination 

Melbourne, Florida 
July 20-21, 1989 

Gregory D. Artis 

James F. Phillips 

David B. Poythress 

August 8, 1989 
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ISSUE 

The issue stipulated by the parties is whether or not 
Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company (the IVCompany8*) 
had just cause f o r  its action in discharging Richard 
Scuoteguazzo (the 88Grievant") . 

BACKGROUND 

In July 1988. ~ o h n  Montgomery, Manager for Installation 
and Maintenance for the Company in Brevard County, Florida 
determined that an inordinately high number of "0437" 
disposition codes were occurring among service technicians 
working in the Indian Harbor Beach, Satellite Beach, and 
Melbourne, Florida area. Service technicians are required to 
complete a "field ticket" at the time they repair various kinds 
of "troubles" in the telephone system: completion of the field 
ticket entails the use of several categories of codes which 
reflect the character of the work performed by the service 
technician. 
corrective action occurred at a l@cross-boxan, an aerial mounted 
device for distributing/switching dial tone service to retail 
telephone subscribers. 

An 110437H disposition code indicates that 

Mr. Montgomery's inquiry was based upon information that 
"something funny" was going on in cross-boxes in the south 
Brevard County area, and consisted initially of a review of 
various management reports, including field tickets, which 
reflected the high number of "0437q8 disposition codes. 
According to Mr. Montgomery, he would expect to see one or two 
such codes per working day, whereas he counted some "25 to 30" 
of them in the three-day period immediately preceding his review. 

Smith, and requested that he identify the cross-boxes with 
respect to which 8q0437n disposition codes had been recently 
entered. Mr. Smith's review showed that the disposition codes 
were not limited to a single cross-box, but were distributed 
widely throughout the area. 

On Monday, July 18, 1988, nessrs. Montgomery and Smith visited 
three of the cross-boxes located near their office and 
discovered cut "jumper wires." 
effect of interrupting dial tone service to a subscriber, and 
would constitute a fVxoublett in the system. Mr. Montgomery 
testified that he examined some of the cuts with a magnifying 
glass and concluded that they were indeed cuts, rather than 
separations caused by corrosion or inadvertence. 

Mr. Montgomery contacted his assistant manager, Mr. James 

A cut jumper wire would have the 

He described 
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the ends of the jumper wires as resembling an inverted letter 
"v** with bright, shiny edges, both of which are characteristic 
of a cut wire. - 

In the ensuing 48 hours, Messrs. Montgomery and Smith 
inspected all of the boxes in which a 110437n disposition code 
had been recently reported, and they discovered that in n90%et of 
the cases a jumper wire had been cut. 
Montgomery contacted M r .  Floyd Bradley, a security manager f o r  
the Company. 

Smith, and Bradley inspected a cross-box located at 1363 Highway 
ALA, Satellite Beach (the "AlA cross-box"); their inspection was 
prompted by an automated system test which showed an "open" 
condition at that cross-box. Their inspection revealed that all 
jumper connections were intact, except the one servicing the 
home of a Mrs. Brannen which had been cut. 

the Grievant to be assigned to clear the *8trouble.o* 
then returned to the maintenance center and reviewed a 
computerized management system that reflects the current status 
of **troubles." Data is entered into the system via hand-held 
"computer access terminals*@ issued by the Company to service 
technicians, including the Grievant. 

The computer showed that the Grievant had already cleared 
the t.rouble at the AlA cross-box, but had entered a disposition 
code of "0415", indicating that he had repaired a defective 
aerial cable pair which is a more complex and time-consuming 
procedure than the work he was actually assigned to perform. 
The computer also showed that the Grievant had ntaken himself 
off the load" as of 3:39 pa., indicating that he was no longer 
available to deal with ootroubles8w in the system. 

At that point, Mr. 

On the afternoon of July 21, 1988, Messrs. Montgomery, 

- 
They then called the Company dispatcher and arranged for 

The three 

Messrs. Montgomery, Smith, and Bradley returned to the AlA 
cross-box and confirmed that the jumper servicing the 
apartment had been repaired. 
apartment and confirmed that service had been restored. 
apartment complex they were approached by a Mrs. Robb, who 
reported that her telephone had gone dead while she was using it 
at approximately 3:20 p.m. Mr. Montgomery tested the cables in 
the %eter room" of the apartment complex and confirmed the 
absence of a dial tone and the existence of an "open" condition 
in the line. 

The three men then returned to the A1A cross-box, checked 
the jumper wire servicing the Robb apartment, and found that it 

Brannen 
They then proceeded to the 

At the 
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ad been cut. The field Lcket prepared by th Grievant with 
respect to his work on the Brannen jumper wires showed that he 
was working in the A1A cross-box between 2:30 p.m. and 3:3Q p.m. 
on the same day. 

Messrs. Montgomery, Smith, and Bradley then proceeded to a 
nearby construction site where they believed the Grievant might 
have gone. Mr. Smith's speculation at the time was that the 
Grievant had taken himself lloff the load" in order to devote 
himself to *'cable locate1' duties at the construction site. Mr. 
Smith testified that by the time they arrived at the site, it 
had been raining for some time, rainwater was standing in the 
ditches, and the site was deserted. 

The group then proceeded to the Grievant's home where, at 
4:50 p.m., they observed the Company vehicle assigned to the 
Grievant parked in front of his home. 

home at approximately 6 : O Q  p.m. and move the truck from the 
street to a neighbor's driveway, which was its normal overnight 
parking location. Mr. Smith also testified the Grievant was 
wearing the same clothes that Smith had observed him wearing 
earlier in the day. Mr. Smith further testified that the 
Grievant, in response to questions on the fOllOWing morning 
concerning his whereabouts, reported that he had encountered a 
"hard locatell the previous afternoon, referring to the 
construction site cable location duties. 

Mr. Smith testified that he observed the Grievant exit his 

Mr. Smith, who was the Grievant's immediate supervisor, 
testified that the Grievant's regular duty hours for the day in 
question were 9:OO a.m. to 6x00 p.m., and that he did not 
authorize the Grievant to leave work or to return to his home 
early that day. The Grievant did, however, submit time reports 
reflecting 0 hours of work, and received payment therefor from 
the Company. 

On July 22, 1900, Mr. Smith identified a cut jumper wire 
in a cross-box located at 304 Ramona Street, and he arranged for 
the Grievant to be assigned to clear that trouble. The Grievant 
did clear the trouble, but used an 81Q43511 disposition code on 
his field ticket, indicating a more time-consuming procedure 
than the work actually assigned to him, which according to Mr. 
Smith, should have resulted in a 1*043711 disposition code. 



POSITION OF THE COMPANY 

The Company contends that the Grievant was involved in a 
widespread practice of cutting jumper wires, and that the 
evidence establishes conclusively that he cut the jumper 
servicing Mrs. Robb's apartment at the time he was correcting 
the cut in the jumper servicing Mrs. Brannen's apartment from 
the A l A  cross-box. 

On the same day, the Grievant left work before 6 : O O  p.m., 
without permission, but claimed credit for and received payment 
for the period of time when he was not working. 

consistently used incorrect disposition codes on his field 
tickets to reflect more complex and time-consuming procedures 
than the work which he actually performed; specifically, the 
Company points to the Grievant's use of the "0415" disposition 
code with respect to his work in the A l A  cross-box on July 21, 
1988, and his use of the 1t043511 disposition code with respect to 
his work in the Ramona cross-box on July 22, 1988. 

Finally, the Company contends that the Grievant 

While the Grievant has a long history of satisfactory or 
better than satisfactory performance with the Company, he has 
engaged in gross misconduct for which termination is the 
appropriate penalty. 

POSITION OF THE UNION 

The Union's position with respect to cut jumpers, and in 
particular the jumper servicing Mrs. Robb's apartment, consists 
of the Grievant's statement that he did not cut any jumpers. 
The Union points out that jumper wires can break more or less 
spontaneously due to corrosion, and alternatively, it is likely 
that the Grievant inadvertently cut or broke the Robb jumper 
wire while working on the Brannen jumper wire, which was 
connected at the adjacent "binding post.H 

With respect to the Grievant's return to his home on July 
21, 1988, the Union argues that service technicians had 
standing, unofficial authorization to take the time to change 
into dry clothing if they should become caught in the rain. In 
addition, the Grievant testified that during the period from 
4:50 p.m. to 6 : O O  p.m. on the day in question, he was in fact 
engaged in Company business, in that he placed telephone calls 
from his home to: 

- 5  - 
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the contractor in charge of the construction site, to 
arrange for the Grievant to locate the cable the 
following'morning 

the Company maintenance department to reschedule 
himself for the cable locate the next day, and 

- the Company office to transmit his own time report. 

With respect to the alleged use of incorrect disposition 
codes, the Union argues and presented testimony to the effect 
that disposition coding is a somewhat judgmental exercise, and 
that service technicians use codes which reflect, variously, the 
work performed farthest from the Ikentral officeoa, the work 
which is most time-consuming, or some variation of the two 
concepts. The Union contends that "creative coding8* was widely 
practiced and recognized, and tacitly condoned'by the Company; 
the Union also pointed to an internal Company memorandum-which, 
it argued, impliedly authorized such "creative coding" so as to 
improve performance statistics. 
work in the AlA and Ramona cross-boxes was not, per se, 
wrongful; rather, he used his best judgment under the 
circumstances, and should not be faulted for a good faith 
mistake. 

The Grievant's coding of his 

The Union also implied that Mr. Smith had some personal 
bias against the Grievant, arising in some way from an alleged 
incidence, several years earlier, in which Mr. Smith requested 
the Grievant to replace a.water pump on his privately owned 
vehicle during work hours. Mr. Smith flatly denied that any 
such transaction had occurred. The Union similarly implied that 
Mr. Montgomery entertained some personal animosity against the 
Grievant based upon an earlier Equal Employment Opportunity 
claim filed by the Grievant: no evidence concerning this issue 
was introduced, but there was evidence that Mr. Montgomery, 
shortly before the events giving rise to this proceeding, had 
prepared a letter of recommendation for the Grievant in 
connection with hie potential promotion into the management 
structure of the Company. 

Finally, the Union points out that the Grievant has a long 
record of satisfactory performance with the Company, that he had 
participated in various Company-sponsored community service 
activities, and had, in fact, been considered for promotion into 
the Company's management structure. 
out that the Grievant had no apparezt motive for cutting jumpers 
or miscoding dispositions, inasmuch as neither act would 
appreciably increase his remuneration from the Company. 

The Union further points 

- 6  - 
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OPINION 

In discharge cases, the employee is entitled to a 
presumption of innocence, and the Company bear the burden of 
proving that the employee committed the offenses with which he 
has been charged. A s  the Union point out, this may mean that 
even in the face of very suspicious circumstances, a discharge 
must be overturned €or lack of clear and convincing evidence. 

A s  a "finder of fact", the Arbitrator must draw 
conclusions concerning the most probable explanation of what 
happened, how, and why. A s  difficult as it Usually is, the 
Arbitrator must make findings of credibility, recognizing that 
he may be wrong, but that arbitrators, like judges, cannot avoid 
the difficult issues in an arbitration for fear of making a 
mistake. 

decision must be made as to the credibility of the witnesses. 
The Arbitrator studied the usual factors of demeanor, 
consistency or inconsistency, confirming or contradicting facts, 
inherent probability, interest and motive. 

The evidence shows beyond doubt that the company was faced 
with a serious problem of jumper cutting by some service 
technicians in July 1988. The number, distribution and 
characteristics of the cuts observed by Messrs. Montgomery and 
smith cannot reasonably be attributed to corrosion or to 
inadvertence by service technicians. 

With respect to the jumper servicing the Robb apartment, 
the evidence is clear and convincing #at the Grievant cut the 
jumper wire while working in the A l A  cross-box on the afternoon 
of July 21, 1988. The probability of ever having an eye witness 
account of an act committed by a service technician working in 
an aerially mounted cross-box is obviously very slim, and no 
such testimony was presented in this matter. But the Grievant's 
act, as charged by the Company, was convincingly established by 
overwhelming circumstantial evidence. 
been thoroughly inspected by Company personnel immediately prior 
to the Grievant's arrival, and all jumper wires were found to be 
intact, except for the jumper servicing the Brannen residence 
which the Grievant had been dispatched to correct. The Grievant 
was working in the AlA cross-box at the precise moment that dial 
tone service to the Robb residence was disrupted, as reflected 
on the Grievant's field tickets. Immediately after the 
Grievant's departure from the A1A cross-box. it was again 
inspected by Company personnel who found the Brannen jumpers 
reconnected and the Robb jumpers cut. The Grievant's simple 

In determining the events of July 21 and 22, 1988, a 

The A l A  cross-box had 

F 0 3 3 2 7 Z  
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denial, in the absence of any other plausible explanation of how 
the jumpers cane to be cut, is not sufficient to overcome the 
conclusion which logically follows from the proven and 
undisputed circumstances. 

The explanations profferred by the Grievant for his 
presence at home pr io r  to the end of the workday on July 21, 
1900 are not sufficient to relieve him from responsibility for 
his conduct. The Grievant's statement that he believed all 
service technicians had standing authorization to return home to 
change clothes in the event they got wet was contradicted by the 
testimony of Mr. Smith. In addition, the underlying premise of 
the entire argument was undercut by Mr. Smith's undisputed 
testimony that the Grievant, when he exited his  home at 6:OO 
p.m. to move the Company vehicle, was wearing the sane clothes 
he had been wearing earlier in the day. 
secondary contention, that he was actually engaged in Company 
business by placing three business-related telephone calls, is 
hardly sufficient to justify an otherwise unexplained absence 
from work of more than 70 minutes. Finally, the Grievant's 
explanation to Mr. Smith of his whereabouts on the afternoon in 
question as attributable to a "hard locate" suggests that the 
Grievant himself entertained a sense of guilt about his presence 
at his home. 

The Union presented convincing evidence and argued 
forcefully that the coding of field tickets is a matter of 
judgment, and that the Grievant should not be penalized for a 
good faith error of judgment. On its face, this argument has 
considerable merit. However, with respect to the two specific 
instances of miscoding charged by the Company, the codes entered 
by the Grievant were so fundamentally inconsistent with the . 
nature of the work actually performed as to dispel any 
contention that they represented good faith errors of judgment. 
The evidence showed that 11043711 is the appropriate disposition 
code for work performed in a cross-box, whereas the 18041518 code 
used by the Grievant on July 21, 1988 represents repair of a 
buried cable, and the "0435" code used by the Grievant on July 
22, 1900 represents work performed outside of a cross-box. Both 
of the codes actually used reflect the performance of more 
time-consuming tasks than the "0437" code. 

any apparent motive for the Grievant's conduct, and his long 
record of satisfactory service with the Company. The Company 
argued that the Grievant's purpose was to "pad" his field 
tickets so as to create periods of unaccountable time during his 
workday and ultimately to generate overtime work for himself and 
others. The evidence showed, however, that the Grievant was not 

The Grievant's 

A most troubling aspect of this matter is the absence of 
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generally disposed to perform overtime work and that the acts of 
misconduct charged entailed virtually no opportunity for 
material gain to the Grievant. 

These circumstances make the outcome of these proceedings 
especially unfortunate, but they do not detract from the 
seriousness of the Grievant's conduct. 

AWARD 

Based upon the evidence, argument, and briefs submitted by 
the parties, it is determined that the Company had just cause 
for its action in discharging the Grievant, and accordingly the 
Grievance is denied. 

Arbitrator 

Date : 9 / , W P  
/ 
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EXPEDITED ARBITRATION PROCEDURE 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
In the matter of arbitration * 

Grievance of 
between * Richard L. Shrader * 

COMMUNICATIONS WORKERS OF AMERICA * Grievance No. S88038-3101 
* Hearing: August 3, 4, 1989 

and Cocoa Beach, Florida * 
SOUTHERN BELL TELEPHONE AND * Briefs: August 14, 1989 
TELEGRAPH COMPANY Award: August 18, 1989 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

For the Union: James F. Phillips 
For the Company: Catharine Emerson 

The issue in this expedited arbitration case is whether the 

Company had just cause to discharge Grievant Richard L. Shrader, 

a Service Technician with approximately 19 years of service. The 

alleged ground for the discharge is gross misconduct, specifi- 

cally that the Grievant was guilty of sabotaging Company property 

and falsifying his time reports. In accordance with the terms of 

Article 23.02 C4 of the contract, this opinion will be brief and 

summary. However, it should be noted the arbitrator has care- 

fully reviewed the notes of two days of hearing and the post- 

hearing written submissions of the parties. - 
In July of 1988 John Montgomery, Manager of Installation and 
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Maintenance in Brevard County, received a tip from an anonymous 

source that "something funny" was going on in the crossboxes in 

the Eau Gallie exchange. These crossboxes, which contain the 

jumper connections between customers and the Central office to 

provide dial tone service, are physically located throughout the 

geographic area served by the Company. When he checked the Daily 

Craft Work Summaries, Montgomery noticed an unusual number of 

trouble calls being attributed to defective or cut jumpers in the 

crossboxes. - 
Accompanied by Assistant Manager James Smith, Montgomery per- 

sonally visited eight different cross boxes and discovered a to- 

tal of nine jumpers that had been cut. Examining the wires he 

had no doubt that these were not accidental breaks but instead 

had been deliberately cut by someone. Confronted with this 

evidence that someone was engaged in sabotaging Company property, 

Montgomery initiated a security investigation in which five of 

the eight Service Technicians were dispatched on calls to boxes 

which were known to contain cut jumpers. 

The investigation ran from July 19 to August 4 ,  by which 

time its existence was known. Grievant was one of three 

employees to be discharged on the basis of the findings. One of 

the other two employees was subsequently reinstated with a lesser 

penalty, while the discharge of the third man has also been sub- 

mitted to arbitration. 

As presented at the hearing, the gist of the case against 

the Grievant is as follows. On seven occasions he was sent out 

2 



to crossboxes which the Company knew to have cut jumpers. 

(Company Exhibit No. 1 lists the seven assignments and details 

the events surrounding them.) On the first of these assignments 

Grievant did repair the cross csnnectior. and attributed the work 

to the proper disposition code (0437) on his Outside Plant Field 

Ticket. However, on the remaining six assignments, he coded.the. - *  

work in five instances to the job of repairing buried cable 

(0415) and in the sixth instance to an aerial distribution (0414) 

instead of a broken jumper. 

six tickets that he had repaired the cut cross connection. 

He gave no indication on any of his 

By reporting the work in the manner he did, Grievant was 

eligible to receive a higher rate job differential for the time 

he supposedly spent on that work. In fact, he applied for dif- 

ferential pay for cable repair work on those jobs. That in it- 

self was not unusual. Because of his background and experience, 

Grievant often received assignments for cable repair when other 

Service Technicians turned back those troubles. But when Company 

representatives visited these boxes after the work was performed 

they found no evidence of digging to reach buried cable on the 

route from the crossbox to the customer's house, nor in the one 

instance of aerial distribution did they find any indication of 

splice closures at the terminal boxes of the poles along the 

line. Montgomery explained that a standard pit dug to reach 

buried cable would normally run 4 feet by 3 feet by 3 feet deep. 

Both during his interview by the Security Department, and 

during a walk-through of the work which is in dispute with smith, 
- 
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Grievant could offer no explanation of where he performed the 

work he had reported. He claimed he could not remember where he 

did the digging, and simply said that whatever work he reported 

on the forms is the work he actually did. 
. v- - . A  

Finally, according to Montgomery, in at least three in- 

stances when Grievant was sent QUt to crossboxes with known cut 

jumpers to repair, other cut jumpers were discovered in sub- 

sequent inspections by the Company. Since no one else had occa- 

sion to be in the crossboxes after Grievant did h i s  work there, 

this finding indicated to management that Grievant was fixing one 

cut jumper and at the same time cutting another. In that 

connection, management recalled that on an earlier occasion when 

the Company announced it was cutting down on the amount of over- 

time work, Grievant angrily said he would get his overtime one 

way or another. And in an earlier conversation with another 

employee who mentioned he was finding a lot of cut jumpers in the 

boxes, Grievant told the other man not to code such work as 0437 

but to spend more time routining the subscriber's station and 

protector. 

In support of the grievance, Union witnesses including the 

Local President Mike Amos and Vice-president Marilyn Lenard tes- 

tified that Assistant Manager Smith at one point stated there 

were video tapes of the Grievant cutting jumpers. .However, the 

Company later admitted that no such pictures or videotapes ever 

existed. Other Union witnesses pointed out that a jumper could 

be accidentally cut in a crossbox, and that other classifications 
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like Facility Technicians had the tools to enter the crossboxes 

and in fact did so on a daily basis. Service Technicians are not  

the only ones with access to those boxes. Even employees of out- 

side contractors are able to enter the boxes, they said. 

Testifying on his own behalf, Grievant reported that Manager 

Montgomery had threatened "to get him" because of a 1987 incident 

in which the employee worked Sunday and penalty overtime on a 

major cable failure. Montgomery apparently felt the overtime was 

unjustified, though Grievant at hearing detailed the work he had 

performed. (Montgomery denied that he ever threatened to get the 

Grievant.) 

Regarding the work in arbitration, Grievant admitted that 

during the security investigation he was unable to remember the 

exact work reflected on the field tickets he was shown. A few 

days later when Smith told him they would do a walk-through, 

Grievant sought to have a Union representative accompany him but 

the Company denied his request. He took the walk-through under 

protest. Again he could not remember where he had performed work 

on the various jobs. 

In reviewing the trouble tickets at hearing, Grievant said 

he remembered to some degree that the "Damaged Encapsulation" he 

wrote on the field tickets referred to buried service wire which 

is in shallow earth and leads from the subscriber's service 

protector to buried cable. For such work, he said, it is not 

necessary to dig a pit. He simply knived down into the earth 

with a shovel, opened the grass in a two-foot area, got the serv- 
- 
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ice wire up, and made the repair. Once the cut was covered up, 

he said, no one could tell he had been there. 

On further examination, he conceded that the phrase "damaged 

encapsulation" could refer either to shallow or deep cable. At 

the arbitration hearing he said he specifically remembered that 

in fact the work under dispute was buried in shallow ground. On 

cross-examination, he conceded he had not told this to Smith on 

the walk-through, claiming he was "under duress" at the time. 

In rebuttal evidence for the Company, Assistant Manager Mar- 

vin Jackson testified that "encapsulation" refers to the point 

where the service wire meets the buried cable, and that is always 

two to five feet underground. If on the other hand a Service 

Technician does work on service wire which is buried in shallow 

ground he is not entitled to claim the 0415 code. Instead, he 

must report such work as 0381 which does not provide a pay 

differential. 

Jackson conceded that several years ago there had been some 

confusion over whether the proper code for shallowly buried wire 

was 04  cable repair or 03 service wire repair. That confusion 

was resolved in favor of the 0381 code. In any event, Jackson 

explained, the repair of service wire has never entitled an 

employee to the pay differential of cable repairman, and hence 

Grievant had no right to claim it in the present instance. 
******************* 

The two major charges against the Grievant are that he 

deliberately cut jumpers in the crossboxes, and that he utilized 
- 
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improper codes to falsify work reports and thereby claim pay dif- 

ferentials to which he was not entitled. 

In at least three instances, Grievant was sent out on 

trouble assignments to crossboxes where the Company knew there 

were cut jumpers. After the Grievant had finished his work, the 

Company reinspected the boxes (in one instance, only an hour and 

one-half later) and found that although the original cut jumper 

was repaired a different jumper had been cut. On that basis the 

Company concluded the Grievant was sabotaging its property. 

The Union argues that the Company has not met its burden of 

proof to establish that Grievant was the one to cut these 

jumpers. In the first place, the Union notes there was no direct 

observation of the Grievant engaged in such acts. Furthermore, 

the Union points out that other employees (even employees of 

contractors) have the means of getting into the boxes and there- 

fore it is unfair to blame the Grievant for the damage to the 

property. 

In the final analysis, the issue regarding the charge of 

sabotage comes down to a hard choice between the circumstantial 

evidence of Grievant's presence at the boxes before new cut 

jumpers were discovered (along with his earlier remark about 

being able to get all the overtime he needed) and, on the other 

hand, the accessibility of these crossboxes to other employees 

even if they had no work assignment there (taking into considera- 

tion that the benefit of any doubt ought to go to the Grievant). 
. 

On a review of the entire case, however, it becomes unneces- 

7 



sary to reach any final conclusion about the charge of sabotage. 

Even if it were to be assumed for purposes of argument that 

Grievant had no responsibility for the cut jumpers in the 

crossboxes, the record amply supports the conclusion on the 

Company's second charge that the Grievant falsely reported he 

performed work justifying a pay differential when in truth he had 

not done any such work. That conduct by itself supports the 

decision to discharge. 

On six occasions when sent out to a box with a cu$ jumper, 

Grievant made the necessary repair but then coded his work as 

"Cable--Buried Distribution" (0415) or "Cable-Aerial 

Distribution" (0414). Asked during the security investigation 

and on the walk-through to explain where he had performed the 

digging for the buried cable or the work on the aerial 

distribution, Grievant was unable to provide any answer. He also 

professed not to remember whether there had been cut jumpers in 

the crossboxes he worked in. At the arbitration hearing, he 

finally claimed to remember that his digging involved service 

wire rather than cable. However, such work would not have en- 

titled him to claim the pay differential that he did. Finally, 

it simply is beyond credibility that Grievant could not remember 

in any of the six jobs where along the route to the customer's 

home he had performed the work for which he .claimed the 

differential. In short, the evidence compels the finding that 

Grievant on the cited occasions claimed pay differentials to 

which he was not entitled. Considering all the circumstances Of 
- 
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the case, that made him vulnerable to discharge. 

In its post-hearing brief the Union maintains that the Com- 

pany did not conduct a complete or fair investigation, and that 

Manager Montgomery was "out to get" the Grievant. In the 

arbitrator's judgment, the record does not support such charges. 

Moreover, it may be assumed (again, for the sake of argument) . - -  
that the Company's denial of Grievant's request for a Union rep- 

resentative to accompany him on the walk-through with Smith con- 

stituted a technical violation of the employee's rights under the 

federal labor statute. Nevertheless, for reasons cited in the 

Company brief, such a violation would not afford any grounds for 

setting aside the discharge in the present case. 

After a review of all the evidence and arguments, the ar- 

bitrator is forced to conclude that the Company had just cause to 

discharge the Grievant. The grievance is denied. 

AWARD 

The grievance is denied. 

Respectfully submitted, 

9 
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southern s e l l  Tel. 6 Tel. Co. 
FPSC Docket  N O .  910163-TL 
c i t i z e n ' s  1st Set of 
Inteiragatocies 
€larch 26, 1991  
I t e m  NO. 9 
Page 1 of 2 

Please i d e n t i f y  a l l  grievances which arose o u t  of, or 
relate to ,  s e r v i c e  problems, subsc r ibe r  refunds, and t h e  
falsification of records. Please identify the p a r t i e s ,  
i nc lud ing  the names and address  of a t to rneys .  

The Company :toes not  maintain information of t h i s  type '  
c t h e c  than i n  ind iv idua l  employee f i l e s .  Southern Bell, 
t h e r e f a r 2  objects t o  t h i s  i n t e r r o g a t o r y  on t he  b a s i s  t h a t  
i t  would be unduly buidensome and oppress ive  t o  requi re  
s o u t h e r n  B e l l  to search thc  f i l e s  of approximately 19 ,500  
p r e s e n t  employees p lus  the f i l e s  of former employees- In 
a d d i t i o n ,  personnel e n t r i e s  are removed a f t e r  seven years  
i f  t h e r e  have been no subsequent e n t r i e s  related t o  the  
same mat ter .  

s u b j e c t  t o  t h i s  object ion Southern Bell has searched those 
files which it has in Labor Re la t ions  offices and made an 
i n q u i r y  of each Network Operations Nanager i n  F lor ida  
having Maintenance Center r e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s  as  t o  t h e i r  
knowledge of any cccurrences of f a l s i E i c a t i o n s  o €  repai  r 
s e r v i c e s  records.  The folLowing LnEormation has been 
ob ta ined  from t h e s e  sources. The employee's name has been 
d e l e t e d  f r o n  a l l  copies except t h a t  given t o  Publ ic  
Counsel,  and a Motion f o r  a Tzrnporary Pro tec t ive  O c d e r  
regard ing  t h e  names 15 being f i l e d  contemporaneously w i t h  
t h i s  answer. 

- gx,- 3 Title Business Address 

1.2, 

.~ 

S c rv i c a Te c hn i c i an N o  longer  with Company 

.:I See 3t3A fu rn i shed  i n  tka P:odxct ion  of DocumenCs. 

2 .  : c ,  Service T + ? c h n i c i z n  1824 N. 3 r d  S t r e e t  
Jacksonvi l le  Retch, ?I, 
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Narch 26 ,  1991 
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B u s l n e s a  Address 

2 3. Service Technician No longer with Company 

7 Grievance processed through arbitration step. .Company position '> 
'I 

ir 
sustained. 

See grievance farm and arbitration award eurnished with POD. - 
Service Technician No longer with Company 

Grievance processed through arbitration step. Company position 
sustained. 

See grievance and arbitration award Eurnished with POD. 

Service Technician 980 Pine Tree Dr. 
Xndian Harbor Bch,, FL 

12 See grievance form and special settlement reinstating employee 
i s  furnished as a part of the POD. 

J L  

19 7- 
IY 

Service Technician 1602 N. Cove B l v d .  
Panama City, FL 

Grievance processed through 3rd level. 

See 3G3R furnished i n  the @roductFon of Documents. 

Facility Technician 2 8 0 0  Catherine St. 
P a l a t k a .  FL 

Gcievance settled at informal level. Warning entry changed to 
counseling. 

Service T e c h n i c i a n  No longer w i t h  Company 

See 3G3A f u r n i s h e d  ac a part of the POD. 

S e  1 : V i c C  Tcc l in ic ian NO longer with Company 

S e e  3G3h furnished a s  a p a f t  of iihe POD.  
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ISSUE 

The issue stipulated by the parties is whether or not 
Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company (the "Company") 
had just cause for its action in discharging Richard 
Scuoteguazzo (the 11Grievant8e) . 

BACXGROUND 

In July 1988, John Montgomery, Manager for Installation 
and Maintenance for the Company in Brevard County, Florida 
determined that an inordinately high number of "0437" 
disposition codes were occurring among service technicians 
working in the Indian Harbor Beach, Satellite Beach, and 
Melbourne, Florida area. Service technicians are required to 
complete a "field ticket" at the time they repair various kinds 
of t8troubles8r in the telephone system: completion of the field 
ticket entails the use of several categories of codes which 
reflect the character of the work performed by the service 
technician. An 880437n disposition code indicates that 
corrective action occurred at a "cross-box", an aerial mounted 
device for distributing/switching dial tone service to retail 
telephone subscribers. 

"something funny" was going on in cross-boxes in the south 
Brevard County area, and consisted initially of a review of 
various management reports, including field tickets, which 
reflected the high number of n0437q1 disposition codes. 
According to Mr. Montgomery, he would expect to see one or two 
such codes per working day, whereas he counted some "25 to 30" 
of them in the three-day period immediately preceding his review. 

Smith, and requested that he identify the cross-boxes with 
respect to which "0437" disposition codes had been recently 
entered. Mr. Smith's review showed that the disposition codes 
were not limited to a single cross-box, but were distributed 
widely throughout the area. 

On Monday, July 18, 1988, Messrs. Montgomery and Smith visited 
three of the cross-boxes located near their office and 
discovered cut "jumper wires." 
effect of interrupting dial tone service to a subscriber, and 
would constitute a q*troubletl in the system. Mr. Montgomery 
testified that he examined some of the cuts with a magnifying 
glass and concluded that they were indeed cuts, rather than 
separations caused by corrosion or inadvertence. 

Mr. Montgomery's inquiry was based upon information that 

Mr. Montgomery contacted his assistant manager, Mr. James 

A cut jumper wire would have the 

He described 

- 2  - 



the ends of the jumper wires as resembling an inverted letter 
"v" with bright, shiny edges, both of which are characteristic 
of a cut wire. - 

inspected all of the boxes in which a "0437" disposition code 
had been recently reported, and they discovered that in "90%" of 
the cases a jumper wire had been cut. 
Montgomery contacted Mr. Floyd Bradley, a security manager for 
the Company. 

Smith, and Bradley inspected a cross-box located at 1363 Highway 
ALA, Satellite Beach (the "AlA cross-boxll); their inspection was 
prompted by an automated system test which showed an 110pen80 
condition at that cross-box. Their inspection revealed that all 
jumper connections were intact, except the one servicing the 
home of a Mrs.  Brannen which had been cut. 

the Grievant to be assigned to clear the *ltrouble.oB 
then returned to the maintenance center and reviewed a 
computerized management system that reflects the current status 
of "troubles." Data is entered into the system via hand-held 
llcomputer access terminals" issued by the Company to service 
technicians, including the Grievant. 

The computer showed that the Grievant had already cleared 
the trouble at the AlA cross-box, but had entered a disposition 
code of "041511, indicating that he had repaired a defective 
aerial cable pair which is a more complex and time-consuming 
procedure than the work he was actually assigned to perform. 
The computer also showed that the Grievant had "taken himself 
off the load" as of 3:39 p.m., indicating that he was no longer 
available to deal with e%roubles*l in the system. 

cross-box and confirmed that the jumper servicing the 
apartment had been repaired. 
apartment and confirmed that service had been restored. 
apartment complex they were approached by a Mrs. Robb, who 
reported that her telephone had gone dead while she was using it 
at approximately 3:20 p.m. Mr. Montgomery tested the cables in 
the "meter roomll of the apartment complex and confirmed the 
absence of a dial tone and the existence of an "openI* condition 
in the line. 

The three men then returned to the AlA cross-box, checked 
the jumper wire servicing the Robb apartment, and found that it 

In the ensuing 48 hours, Messrs. Montgomery and Smith 

At that point, Mr. 

On the afternoon of July 21, 1988, Messrs. Montgomery, 

- 
They then called the Company dispatcher and arranged for 

The three 

Messrs. Montgomery, Smith, and Bradley returned to the AlA 
Brannen 

They then proceeded to the 
At the 
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had been cut. The field ticket prepared by the Grievant with 
respect to his work on the Brannen jumper wires showed that he 
was working in the A1A cross-box between 2:30 p.m. and 3:30 p.m. 
on the same day. 

Messrs. Montgomery, Smith, and Bradley then proceeded to a 
nearby construction site where they believed the Grievant might 
have gone. Mr. Smith's speculation at the time was that the 
Grievant had taken himself "off the load" in order to devote 
himself to "cable lscate" duties at the construction site. Mr. 
Smith testified that by the time they arrived at the site, it 
had been raining for some time, rainwater was standing in the 
ditches, and the site was deserted. 

The group then proceeded to the Grievant's home where, at 
4:50 p.m., they observed the Company vehicle assigned to the 
Grievant parked in front of his home. 

Mr. Smith testified that he observed the Grievant exit his 
home at approximately 6 : O O  p.m. and move the truck from the 
street to a neighbor's driveway, which was its normal overnight 
parking location. Mr. Smith also testified the Grievant was 
wearing the same clothes that Smith had observed him wearing 
earlier in the day. M r .  Smith further testified that the 
Grievant, in response to questions on the following mOrning 
concerning his whereabouts, reported that he had encountered a 
"hard locate" the previous afternoon, referring to the 
construction site cable location duties. 

Mr. Smith, who was the Grievant's immediate supervisor, 
testified that the Grievant's regular duty hours for the day in 
question were 9:00 a.m. to 6 : O O  p.m., and that he did not 
authorize the Grievant to leave work or to return to his home 
early that day. The Grievant did, however, submit time reports 
reflecting 0 hours of work, and received payment therefor from 
the Company. 

On July 22, 1908, M r .  Smith identified a cut jumper wire 
in a cross-box located at 304 Ramona Street, and he arranged for 
the Grievant to be assigned to clear that trouble. The Grievant 
did clear the trouble, but used an "043589 disposition code on 
his field ticket, indicating a more time-consuming procedure 
than the work actually assigned to him, which according to Mr. 
Smith, should have resulted in a s'043791 disposition code. 



POSITION OF THE COMPANY 

The Company contends that the Grievant was involved in a 
widespread practice of cutting jumper wires, and that the 
evidence establishes conclusively that he cut the jumper 
servicing Mrs. Robb's apartment at the time he was correcting 
the cut in the jumper servicing Mrs. Brannen's apartment from 
the AlA cross-box. 

On the same day, the Grievant left work before 6 : O O  p.m., 
without permission, but claimed credit for and received payment 
for the period of time when he was not working. 

Finally, the Company contends that the Grievant 
consistently used incorrect disposition codes on his field 
tickets to reflect more complex and time-consuming procedures 
than the work which he actually performed; specifically, the 
Company points to the Grievant's use of the "0415" disposition 
code with respect to his work in the A U  cross-box on July 21, 
1988, and his use of the 11043511 disposition code with respect to 
his work in the Ramona cross-box on July 22, 1988. 

While the Grievant has a long history of satisfactory or 
better than satisfactory performance with the Company, he has 
engaged in gross misconduct for which termination is the 
appropriate penalty. 

POSITION OF THE UNION 

The Union's position with respect to cut jumpers, and in 
particular the jumper servicing Mrs. Robb's apartment, consists 
of the Grievant's statement that he did not cut any jumpers. 
The Union points out that jumper wires can break more or less 
spontaneously due to corrosion, and alternatively, it is likely 
that the Grievant inadvertently cut or broke the Robb jumper 
wire while working on the Brannen jumper wire, which was 
connected at the adjacent "binding post.H 

With respect to the Grievant's return to his home on July 

In 

21, 1988, the Union argues that service technicians had 
standing, unofficial authorization to take the time to change 
into dry clothing if they should become caught in the rain. 
addition, the Grievant testified that during the period from 
4:50 p.m. to 6 : O O  p.m. on the day in question, he was in fact 
engaged in Company business, in that he placed telephone calls 
from his home to: 
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the contractor in charge of the construction site, to 
arrange for the Grievant to locate the cable the 
following'morning 

the Company maintenance department to reschedule 
himself for the cable locate the next day, and 

- the Company office to transmit his own time report. 

With respect to the alleged use of incorrect disposition 
codes, the Union argues and presented testimony to the effect 
that disposition coding is a somewhat judgmental exercise, and 
that service technicians use codes which reflect, variously, the 
work performed farthest from the "central office", the work 
which is most time-consuming, or some variation of the two 
concepts. The Union contends that "creative coding" was widely 
practiced and recognized, and tacitly condoned by the Company; 
the Union also pointed to an internal Company memorandum-which, 
it argued, impliedly authorized such "creative coding" 60 as to 
improve performance statistics. 
work in the A l A  and Ramona cross-boxes was not, per se, 
wrongful: rather, he used his best judgment under the 
circumstances, and should not be faulted for a good faith 
mistake. 

The Grievant's coding of his 

The Union also implied that Mr. Smith had some personal 
bias against the Grievant, arising in some way from an alleged 
incidence, several years earlier, in which Mr. Smith requested 
the Grievant to replace a water pump on his privately owned 
vehicle during work hours. Mr. smith flatly denied that any 
such transaction had occurred. 
Mr. Montgomery entertained some personal animosity against the 
Grievant based upon an earlier Equal Employment Opportunity 
claim filed by the Grievant: no evidence concerning this issue 
was introduced, but there was evidence that Mr. Montgomery, 
shortly before the events giving rise to this proceeding, had 
prepared a letter of recommendation for the Grievant in 
connection with his potential promotion into the management 
structure of the Company. 

Finally, the Union points out that the Grievant has a long 
record of satisfactory performance with the Company, that he had 
participated in various Company-sponsored community service 
activities, and had, in fact, been considered for promotion into 
the Company's management structure. The Union further points 
out that the Grievant had no apparent motive €or cutting jumpers 
or miscoding dispositions, inasmuch as neither act would 
appreciably increase his remuneration from the Company. 

The Union similarly implied that 
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OPINION 

In discharge cases, the employee is entitled to a 
presumption of innocence, and the company bear the burden of 
proving that the employee committed the offenses with which he 
has been charged. A s  the Union point out, this may mean that 
even in the face of very suspicious circumstances, a discharge 
must be overturned for lack of clear and convincing evidence. 

As a "finder of fact", the Arbitrator must draw 
conclusions concerning the most probable explanation of what 
happened, how, and why. A s  difficult as it usually is, the 
Arbitrator must make findings of credibility, recognizing that 
he may be wrong, but that arbitrators, like judges, cannot avoid 
the difficult issues in an arbitration for fear of making a 
mistake. 

decision must be made as to the credibility of the witnesses. 
The Arbitrator studied the usual factors of demeanor, 
consistency or inconsistency, confirming or contradicting facts, 
inherent probability, interest and motive. 

The evidence shows beyond doubt that the company was faced 
with a serious problem of jumper cutting by some service 
technicians in July 1988. The number, distribution and 
characteristics of the cuts observed by Messrs. Montgomery and 
Smith cannot reasonably be attributed to corrosion or to 
inadvertence by service technicians. 

In determining the events of July 21 and 22, 1988, a 

With respect to the jumper servicing the Robb apartment, 
the evidence is clear and convincing that the Grievant cut the 
jumper wire while working in the A3.A cross-box on the afternoon 
of July 21, 1988. The probability of ever having an eye witness 
account of an act committed by a service technician working in 
an aerially mounted cross-box is obviously very slim, and no 
such testimony was presented in this matter. But the Grievant's 
act, as charged by the Company, was convincingly established by 
overwhelming circumstantial evidence. The A U  cross-box had 
been thoroughly inspected by Company personnel immediately prior 
to the Grievant's arrival, and all jumper wires were found to be 
intact, except for the jumper servicing the Brannen residence 
which the Grievant had been dispatched to correct. The Grievant 
was working in the A l A  cross-box at the precise moment that dial 
tone service to the Robb residence was disrupted, as reflected 
on the Grievant's field tickets. Immediately after the 
Grievant's departure from the AlA cross-box, it was again 
inspected by Company personnel who found the Brannen jumpers 
reconnected and the Robb jumpers cut. The Grievant's simple 
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denial, in the absence of any other plausible explanation of how 
the jumpers came to be cut, is not sufficient to overcome the 
conclusion which logically follows from the proven and 
undisputed circumstances. 

presence at home prior to the end of the workday on July 21, 
1988 are not sufficient to relieve him from responsibility for 
his conduct. The Grievant's statement that he believed all 
service technicians had standing authorization to return home to 
change clothes in the event they got wet was contradicted by the 
testimony of Mr. Smith. In addition, the underlying premise of 
the entire argument was undercut by Mr. Smith's undisputed 
testimony that the Grievant, when he exited his home at 6 : O O  
p.m. to move the Company vehicle, was wearing the same clothes 
he had been wearing earlier in the day. The Grievant's 
secondary contention, that he was actually engaged in Company 
business by placing three business-related telephone calls, is 
hardly sufficient to justify an otherwise unexplained absence 
from work of more than 70 minutes. Finally, the Grievant's 
explanation to Mr. Smith of his whereabouts on the afternoon in 
question as attributable to a ''hard locate" suggests that the 
Grievant himself entertained a sense of guilt about his presence 
at his home. 

The explanations profferred by the Grievant for his 

The Union presented convincing evidence and argued 
forcefully that the coding of field tickets is a matter of 
judgment, and that the Grievant should not be penalized €or a 
good faith error of judgment. On its face, this argument has 
considerable merit. However, with respect to the two specific 
instances of miscoding charged by the Company, the codes entered 
by the Grievant were so fundamentally inconsistent with the . 
nature of the work actually performed as to dispel any 
contention that they represented good faith errors of judgment. 
The evidence showed that 1104371r is the appropriate disposition 
code for work performed in a cross-box, whereas the "0415" code 
used by the Grievant on July 21, 1988 represents repair of a 
buried cable, and the 110435n code used by the Grievant on July 
22, 1988 represents work performed outside of a cross-box. Both 
of the codes actually used reflect the performance of more 
time-consuming tasks than the "0437*' code. 

any apparent motive for the Grievant's conduct, and his long 
record of satisfactory service with the Company. 
argued that the Grievant's purpose was to alpad'' his field 
tickets so as to create periods of unaccountable time during his 
workday and ultimately to generate overtime work for himself and 
others. The evidence showed, however, that the Grievant was not 

A most troubling aspect of this matter is the absence of 

The Company 
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generally disposed to perform overtime work and that the acts of 
misconduct charged entailed virtually no opportunity for 
material gain to the Grievant. 

especially unfortunate, but they do not detract from the 
seriousness of the Grievant’s conduct. 

These circumstances make the outcome of these proceedings 

AWARD 

Based upon the evidence, argument, and briefs submitted by 
the parties, it is determined that the Company had just cause 
for its action in discharging the Grievant, and accordingly the 
Grievance is denied. 

Date: 4 1989 
/ 

F03E27Z 

Arbitrator 
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EXPEDITED ARBITRATION PROCEDURE 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
In the matter of arbitration * 

Grievance of 
between * Richard L. Shrader 

COMMUNICATIONS WORKERS OF AMERICA * Grievance NO. 588038-3101 
* Hearing: August 3, 4, 1989 

and Cocoa Beach. Florida * 
SOUTHERN BELL TELEPHONE AND * Briefs: August 14, 1989 
TELEGRAPH COMPANY * Award: August 18, 1989 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

For the Union: James F. Phillips 
For the Company: Catharine Emerson 

The issue in this expedited arbitration case is whether the 

Company had just cause to discharge Grievant Richard L. Shrader, 

a Service Technician with approximately 19 years of service. The 

alleged ground for the discharge is gross misconduct, specifi- 

cally that the Grievant was guilty of sabotaging Company property 

and falsifying his time reports. In accordance with the terms of 

Article 23.02 C4 of the contract, this opinion will be brief and 

summary. However, it should be noted the arbitrator has care- 

fully reviewed the notes of two days of hearing and the post- 

hearing written submissions of the parties. 

In July of 1988 John Montgomery, Manager of Installation and 
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Maintenance in Brevard County, received a tip from an anonymous 

source that "something funny" was going on in the crossboxes in 

the Eau Gallie exchange. These crossboxes, which contain the 

jumper connections between customers and the Central office to 

provide dial tone service, are physically located throughout the 

geographic area served by the Company. When he checked the Daily 

Craft work Summaries, Montgomery noticed an unusual number of 

trouble calls being attributed to defective or cut jumpers in the 

crossboxes. - 
Accompanied by Assistant Manager James Smith, Montgomery per- 

sonally visited eight different cross boxes and discovered a to- 

tal of nine jumpers that had been cut. Examining the wires he 

had no doubt that these were not accidental breaks but instead 

had been deliberately cut by someone. Confronted with this 

evidence that someone was engaged in sabotaging Company property, 

Montgomery initiated a security investigation in which five of 

the eight Service Technicians were dispatched on calls to boxes 

which were known to contain cut jumpers. 

The investigation ran from July 19 to August 4 ,  by which 

time its existence was known. Grievant was one of three 

employees to be discharged on the basis of the findings. One of 

the other two employees was subsequently reinstated with a lesser 

penalty, while the discharge of the third man has also been sub- 

mitted to arbitration. 

As presented at the hearing, the gist of the case against 

the Grievant is as follows. On seven occasions he was sent Out 
~ 
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to crossboxes which the Company knew to have cut jumpers. 

(Company Exhibit No. 1 lists the seven assignments and details 

the events surrounding them.) On the first of these assignments 

Grievant did repair the cross csnnectior. and attributed the work 

to the proper disposition code ( 0 4 3 7 )  on his Outside Plant Field 

Ticket. However, on the remaining six assignments, he coded the' - -  
work in five instances to the job of repairing buried cable 

( 0 4 1 5 )  and in the sixth instance to an aerial distribution ( 0 4 1 4 )  

instead of a broken jumper. 

six tickets that he had repaired the cut cross connection. 

He gave no indication on any of his 

By reporting the work in the manner he did, Grievant was 

eligible to receive a higher rate job differential for the time 

he supposedly spent on that work. In.fact, he applied for dif- 

ferential pay for cable repair work on those jobs. That in it- 

self was not unusual. Because of his background and experience, 

Grievant often received assignments for cable repair when other 

Service Technicians turned back those troubles. But when Company 

representatives visited these boxes after -the work was performed 

they found no evidence of digging to reach buried cable on the 

route from the crossbox to the customer's house, nor in the one 

instance of aerial distribution did they find any indication of 

splice closures at the terminal boxes of the poles along the 

line. Montgomery explained that a standard pit dug to reach 

buried cable would normally run 4 feet by 3 feet by 3 feet deep. 

Both during his interview by the Security Department, and 

during a walk-through of the work which is in dispute with Smith, 
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Grievant could offer no explanation of where he performed the 

work he had reported. He claimed he could not remember where he 

did the digging, and simply said that whatever work he reported 

on the forms is the work he actually did. 
- .  - 1  . w- 

Finally, according to Montgomery, in at least three in- 

stances when Grievant was sent out to crossboxes with known cut 

jumpers to repair, other cut jumpers were discovered in sub- 

sequent inspections by the Company. Since no one else had occa- 

sion to be in the crossboxes after Grievant did his work there, 

this finding indicated to management that Grievant was fixing one 

cut jumper and at the same time cutting another. In that 

connection, management recalled that on an earlier occasion when 

the Company announced it was cutting down on the amount of over- 

time work, Grievant angrily said he would get his overtime one 

way or another. And in an earlier conversation with another 

employee who mentioned he was finding a lot of cut jumpers in the 

boxes, Grievant told the other man not to code such work as 0437 

but to spend more time routining the subscriber's station and 

protector. 

In support of the grievance, Union witnesses including the 

Local President Mike Amos and Vice-president Marilyn Lenard tes- 

tified that Assistant Manager Smith at one point stated there 

were video tapes of the Grievant cutting jumpers. However, the 

Company later admitted that no such pictures or videotapes ever 

existed. Other Union witnesses pointed out that a jumper could 

be accidentally cut in a crossbox, and that other classifications 
- 
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like Facility Technicians had the tools to enter the crossboxes 

and in fact did so on a daily basis. Service Technicians are not 

the only ones with access to those boxes. Even employees of out- 

side contractors are able to enter the boxes, they said.. 

Testifying on his own behalf, Grievant reported that Manager 

Montgomery had threatened "to get him" because of a 1987 incident 

in which the employee worked Sunday and penalty overtime on a 

major cable failure. Montgomery apparently felt the overtime was 

unjustified, though Grievant at hearing detailed the work he had 

performed. (Montgomery denied that he ever threatened to get the 

Grievant.) 

Regarding the work in arbitration, Grievant admitted that 

during the security investigation he was unable to remember the 

exact work reflected on the field tickets he was shown. A few 

days later when Smith told him they would do a walk-through, 

Grievant sought to have a Union representative accompany him but 

the Company denied his request. He took the walk-through under 

protest. Again he could not remember where he had performed work 

on the various jobs. 

In reviewing the trouble tickets at hearing, Grievant said 

he remembered to some degree that the "Damaged Encapsulation" he 

wrote on the field tickets referred to buried service wire which 

is in shallow earth and leads from the subscriber's service 

protector to buried cable. For such work, he said, it is not 

necessary to dig a pit. He simply knived down into the earth 

with a shovel, opened the grass in a two-foot area, got the serv- 
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ice wire up, and made the repair. Once the cut was covered up, 

he said, no one could tell he had been there. 

On further examination, he conceded that the phrase "damaged 

encapsulation" could refer either to shallow or deep cable. At 

the arbitration hearing he said he specifically remembered that 

in fact the work under dispute was buried in shallow ground. On 

cross-examination, he conceded he had not told this to Smith on 

the walk-through, claiming he was "under duress" at the time. 

In rebuttal evidence for the Company, Assistant Manager Mar- 

vin Jackson testified that "encapsulation" refers to the point 

where the service wire meets the buried cable, and that is always 

two to five feet underground. If on the other hand a Service 

Technician does work on service wire which is buried in shallow 

ground he is not entitled to claim the 0415 code. Instead, he 

must report such work as 0381 which does not provide a pay 

differential. 

Jackson conceded that several years ago there had been some 

confusion over whether the proper code for shallowly buried wire 

was 0 4  cable repair or 03 service wire repair. That confusion 

was resolved in favor of the 0381 code. In any event, Jackson 

explained, the repair of service wire has never entitled an 

employee to the pay differential of cable repairman, and hence 

Grievant had no right to claim it in the present instance. 

************* t i ****  

The two major charges against the Grievant are that he 

deliberately cut jumpers in the crossboxes, and that he utilized 
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improper codes to falsify work reports and thereby Claim pay dif- 

ferentials to which he was not enti%led. 

In at least three instances, Grievant was sent out on 

trouble assignments to crosshoxes where the Company knew there 

were cut jumpers. After the Grievant had finished his work, the 

Company reinspected the boxes (in one instance, only an hour and 

one-half later) and found that although the original cut jumper 

was repaired a different jumper had been cut. On that basis the 

Company concluded the Grievant was sabotaging its property. 

The Union argues that the Company has not met its burden of 

proof to establish that Grievant was the one to cut these 

jumpers. In the first place, the Union notes there was no direct 

observation of the Grievant engaged in such acts. Furthermore, 

the Union points out that other employees (even employees of 

contractors) have the means of getting into the boxes and there- 

fore it is unfair to blame the Grievant for the damage to the 

property. 

In the final analysis, the issue regarding the charge of 

sabotage comes down to a hard choice between the circumstantial 

evidence of Grievant's presence at the boxes before new cut 

jumpers were discovered (along with his earlier remark about 

being able to get all the overtime he needed) and, on the other 

hand, the accessibility of these crossboxes to other employees 

even if they had no work assignment there (taking into considera- 

tion that the benefit of any doubt ought to go to the Grievant). 

On a review of the entire case, however, it becomes unneces- 
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sary to reach any final conclusion about the charge of sabotage. 

Even if it were to be assumed for purposes of argument that 

Grievant had no responsibility for the cut jumpers in the 

crossboxes, the record amply supports the conclusion on the 

Company's second charge that the Grievant falsely reported he 

performed work justifying a pay differential when in truth he had 

not done any such work. That conduct by itself supports the 

decision to discharge. 

On six occasions when sent out to a box with a cut jumper, 

Grievant made the necessary repair but then coded his work as 

"Cable--Buried Distribution" (0415) or "Cable-Aerial 

Distribution" (0414). Asked during the security investigation 

and on the walk-through to explain where he had performed the 

digging for the buried cable or the work on the aerial 

distribution, Grievant was unable to provide any answer. He also 

professed not to remember whether there had been cut jumpers in 

the crossboxes he worked in. At the arbitration hearing, he 

finally claimed to remember that his digging involved service 

wire rather than cable. However, such work would not have en- 

titled him to claim the pay differential that he did. Finally, 

it simply is beyond credibility that Grievant could not remember 

in any of the six jobs where along the route to the customer's 

home he had performed the work for which he .claimed the 

differential. In short, the evidence compels the finding that 

Grievant on the cited occasions claimed pay differentials to 

which he was not entitled. Considering all the circumstances Of 
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the case, that made him vulnerable to discharge. 

In its post-hearing brief the Union maintains that the Com- 

pany did not conduct a complete or fair investigation, and that 

Manager Montgomery was "out to get" the Grievant. In the 

arbitrator's judgment, the record does not support such charges. 

Moreover, it may be assumed (again, for the sake of argument) . - -  
that the Company's denial of Grievant's request for a Union rep- 

resentative to accompany him on the walk-through with Smith con- 

stituted a technical violation of the employee's rights under the 

federal labor statute. Nevertheless, for reasons cited in the 

Company brief, such a violation would not afford any grounds for 

setting aside the discharge in the present case. 

After a review of all the evidence and arguments, the ar- 

bitrator is forced to conclude that the Company had just cause to 

discharge the Grievant. The grievance is denied. 

AWARD 

The grievance is denied. 

Respectfully submitted, 
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. 
- southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company 

Floriea Public service ccnnission 
Docket No. 910163-TL 
Public Counsel's Third Set of 
Interrogatories 
Iten No. 18 
Page 1 of 1 

REQUEST: Please provide the name, address, and telephone number 
of each customer with a repair service order, form or record 
that, to your knowledge, information or belief, was changed from 
"test OK" to "out of service." Please also provide the dates 
over which the repair was accomplished or attempted. 

RESPONSE: To the extent that this interrogatory seeks 
information relating to Southern Bell's internal investigation 
regarding the subject matter of this docket, Southern Bell first 
notes that this investigation is not yet complete and thus this 
interrogatory is premature. Moreover, Southern Bell-objects at 
this time to this interrogatory on the ground that to the extent 
that such information is contained in that internal investigation 
such information is privileged as attorney work product. 
Disregarding what may or may not be contained in the internal 
investigation, please see Attachment I appended hereto. 

INFORMATION PROVIDED BY: R .  H. Lee, Jr., Manager 
Room 36M66 
675 W. Peachtree Street. N.E. 
Atlanta, GA 30375 
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The following list of accounts are the ones scored as errors 
during the North Dade Procedure and Statusing Review for the 
period August 1, 1990 to August 31, 1990. All errors resulted 
because the reports did not qualify for out of service scoring 
per existing guidelines and practices. All reports scored as 
errors were closed between August 27, 1991 and August 31, 1991 
even though the whole month was sampled. 

INFORMATION PROVIDED BY: R. H. Lee, Jr., Manager 
Room 36M66 
675 W. Peachtree Street, N.E.  
Atlanta, GA 30375 
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Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph 
Company 
Florida Public Service Commission 
Docket No. 910163-TL 
Public Counsel's Third Set of 
Interrogatories 
Item No. 20 
Page 1 of 1 

REQUEST: Please provide the name, address, and telephone number 
of each customer w i t h  a repair service order, form or record 
that, to your knowledge, information or belief, was fictitious in . 
any respect. Please also provide the dates over which the repair 
was reported, accomplished or attempted. 

RESPONSE: To the extent that this interrogatory seeks 
information relating to Southern Bell's internal investigation 
regarding the subject matter of this docket, Southern Bell first 
notes that this investigation is not yet complete and thus this 
interrogatory is premature. Moreover, Southern Bell objects at 
this time to this interrogatory on the ground that to the extent 
that such information is contained in that internal investigation 
such information is privileged as attorney work product. 
Disregarding what may or may not be contained in the internal 
investigation, please see Attachments I and I1 appended hereto. 

INFORMATION PROVIDED BY: R. H. Lee, Jr., Manager 
Room 361166 
675 W. Peachtree Street, N.E. 
Atlanta, GA 30315 
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The attached list provides this information for the period 
September 1, 1990 through September 30, 1990. It is related to 
the Gainesville IMC. 

INFORMATION PROVIDED BY: R. H. Lee, Jr., Manager 
Room 36M66 
675 W. Peachtree Street, N.E. 
Atlanta, GA 30375 
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Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph 
Company 
Florida Public Service Commission 
Docket No. 910163-TL 
Public Counsel's Third Set of 
Interrogatories 
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The attached list provides this information for the period 
September, 1989 through December, 1990. It is related to the 
Jacksonville IMC. 

I N F O R M A T I O N  PROVIDED BY: R. H .  Lee, Jr., Manager 
Room 361166 
675 W. Peachtree Street, N.E. 
Atlanta, GA 30375 
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Florida Public Service comissior. 
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REQUEST: Please provide the name, address, and telephone number 
of each customer with a repair service order, form or record 
that, to your knowledge, information or belief, was changed from 
"test OK" to "out of service." Please also provide the dates 
over which the repair was accomplished or attempted. 

RESPONSE: To the extent that this interrogatory seeks 
information relating to Southern Bell's internal investigation 
regarding the subject matter of this docket, Southern Bell first 
notes that this investigation is not yet complete and thus this 
interrogatory is premature. Moreover, Southern BelLobjects at 
this time to this interrogatory on the ground that to the extent 
that such information is contained in that internal investigation 
such information is privileged as attorney work product. 
Disregarding what may or may not be contained in the internal 
investigation, please see Attachment I appended hereto. 

INFORMATION PROVIDED BY: R .  H. Lee, Jr., Manager 
Room 36M66 
675 W. Peachtree Street, N.E. 
Atlanta, GA 30375 
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cnnpany 
Florida Public Servi.ce Commission 
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The following list of accounts are the ones scored as errors 
during the North Dade Procedure and Statusing Review for the 
period August 1, 1990 to August 31, 1990. All errors resulted 
because the reports did not qualify for out of service scoring 
per existing guidelines and practices. All reports scored as 
errors were closed between August 2 7 ,  1991 and August 31, 1991 
even though the whole month was sampled. 

INFORMATION PROVIDED BY: R. H. Lee, Jr., Manager 
Room 36M66 
675 W. Peachtree Street, N . E .  
Atlanta, GA 30375 
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Southern Bell Teleohone and Telegraph 
Company 
Florida Public Service Commission 
Docket No. 910163-TL 
Public Counsel's Third Set of 
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Item No. 20 
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REQUEST: Please provide the name, address, and telephone number 
of each customer with a repair service order, form or record 
that, to your knowledge, information or belief, was fictitious in . 
any respect. Please also provide the dates over which the repair 
was reported, accomplished or attempted. 

RESPONSE: To the extent that this interrogatory seeks 
information relating to Southern Bell's internal investigation 
regarding the subject matter of this docket, Southern Bell first 
notes that this investigation is not yet complete and thus this 
interrogatory is premature. Moreover, Southern Bell objects at 
this time to this interrogatory on the ground that to the extent 
that such information is contained in that internal investigation 
such information is privileged as attorney work product. 
Disregarding what may or may not be contained in the internal 
investigation, please see Attachments I and IT appended hereto. 

INFORMATION PROVIDED BY: R. H. Lee, Sr., Manager 
Room 361166 
675 W. Peachtree Street, N.E. 
Atlanta. GA 30375 
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Docket No. 910163-TL 

The attached list provides this information for the period 
September 1, 1990 through September 30, 1990. It is related to 
the Gainesville IMC. 

INFORMATION PROVIDED BY: R. H. Lee, Jr., Manager 
Room 36M66 
675 W. Peachtree Street. N.E. 
Atlanta, GA 30375 
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Company 
Florida Public Service Commission 
Docket NO. 910163-TL 
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The attached list provides this information for  the period 
September, 1989 through December, 1990. It is related to the 
Jacksonville IMC. 

INFORMATION PROVIDED BY: R. K. Lee, Jr., Manager 
Room 36M66 
675 W. Peachtree Street, N . E  
Atlanta, GA 30375 

F 0 3 8 2 7 Z  0 0 0 0 3 5 3 



ATTACHMENT 2 

INFORMATION REDACTED 

F 0 3 5 2 7 Z  0 0 0 0 0 5 I ,  



ATTACHMENT I I 

! 
-7 

7 904-249-1771 
& 

9 0 4-2 47--9116 0 

904-246-7943 
5 

s 
: 904-247-1732 
I. 

.. 904-249-9798 
15 

904-249-4789 
I2 

1 ? 904-241-7970 
, , 1  

;$ 904-246-7877 
:i 

i ?  904-241-5282 
*. 

I _  

! J 9 0 4 -2 4 1-9 2 8 2 
I? 
2' 

'2 I - 904-249-7552 
- ! 3  -. 
2 3  504-246-6582 
J U  

r n ?  R 3 -7 7 

504-233-0503 

904-233-2051 

904-235-0366 

904-263-3538 

904-263-3816 

904-539-5632 

904-539-9384 

904-539-5318 

n o 0 0 0 5 5  



c \ 

- 1 -  

AT&T Bell Laboratories, Inc.  
PROGRAM APPLICATION INSTRUCTION Issue 6.0, December, 1988 

Generic G6 

F03B27Z 



PA-2P060-0l-LMOSJOBZ AT&T Bell Laboratories, Inc. Issue 6.0, December, 1988 
Generic G6 PROGRAM APPLICATION INSTRUCTION - 

-..-.-~d".---*- 

L----- -."./'----- 

\ 


